ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Pickens County

G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

OCT - 8 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

RODNEY DAVIS YOUNG,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000296

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the PCR court erred in finding that plea counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where Petitioner would have not pled guilty to the charge of distribution of crack cocaine, second offense, and the related proximity charge had he not been misadvised by plea counsel that he would only have had to serve 65% of that sentence when the second offense distribution charge actually requires Petitioner to serve at least 85% of the sentence?

STATEMENT

Indictments

On September 12, 2012, Petitioner Rodney David Young was indicted by the Pickens County Grand Jury for (1) distribution of cocaine base [crack cocaine] in violation of S.C. CODE ANN. § 44-53-375(B)(2); (2) distribution of marijuana in violation of § 44-53-370(b)(2); (3) distribution of cocaine base within ½ mile of a park in violation of § 44-53-445; and (4) distribution of marijuana within close proximity of a park in violation of § 44-54-445. App. 80-96.

Guilty Plea

On January 28, 2013, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Edward W. Miller to plead guilty to the above-referenced charges. App. 1-13. Petitioner was represented by John W. DeJong, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor J. Baker Cleveland, III. App. 1.

During sentencing, Petitioner's plea counsel informed Judge Miller that Petitioner never denied that he sold the marijuana but was adamant that he had not sold the crack cocaine. Plea counsel advised the court that a co-defendant named Kelly Sloan had actually sold the crack cocaine, and the assistant solicitor acknowledged that Sloan pled to selling the crack cocaine and was serving eight years on that charge. App. 8, ll. 17-20; 11, ll. 1-16.

Judge Miller sentenced Petitioner to eighteen years on the second offense distribution of crack cocaine charge, provided that upon the service of eight years, the balance be suspended to three years probation. Judge Miller sentenced Petitioner to eight years on the remaining charges with all sentences to run concurrent. He gave Petitioner

credit for 715 days. App. 13, ll. 12-16; 82; 87; 92; 97. Petitioner did not file a direct appeal.

PCR Application and Evidentiary Hearing

Petitioner filed his application for post-conviction relief on May 13, 2013, alleging in part that he was not properly advised by his plea counsel that he would have to serve 85% on his guilty plea for distribution of crack cocaine, second offense. Instead, Petitioner was led to believe by his plea counsel that he would only have to serve 65% of that sentence. App. 15-26. The State filed its Return on October 17, 2013. App. 27-33.

An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker on December 16, 2013. App. 34-67. Petitioner was represented by R. Mills Ariail, Jr., and the State was represented by Assistant Attorney General Karen C. Ratigan. App. 34. Both Petitioner and his plea counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing. App. 37-67.

Petitioner testified that he informed his plea counsel that he only wanted to plead guilty to the charges he was actually guilty of which was the selling of the marijuana and not the selling of any crack cocaine. App. 42, ll. 3-16. Petitioner noted that had always been his position and that he had consistently informed his plea counsel of that fact which plea counsel then told the plea judge. App. 42, ll. 15-16.

Petitioner testified that he ended up pleading guilty to the distribution of crack cocaine and related proximity charge because his plea counsel told him that was the best he could get. App. 42, l. 17 – 43, l. 2. Petitioner further testified that his plea counsel advised him that he would only have to serve 65% of the sentence on the distribution of crack cocaine charge and would be eligible for parole and work release. It turned out that Petitioner was required to serve 85% of the sentence for the distribution of crack cocaine

offense. Petitioner asserted that had he been advised correctly by his plea counsel as to the percentage of time he would have had to serve for that offense, he would have never pled guilty to that charge. App. 48, l. 7 – 49, l. 25.

At the evidentiary hearing, plea counsel conceded that he “probably shared with [Petitioner] that it was not eighty-five percent” App. 60, ll. 7-15. Plea counsel further admitted:

And candidly, [Petitioner] asked me before this hearing started about that, and I told him I would look into it. But I can’t honestly say that I told him it would be an eighty-five percent.

App. 60, ll. 17-20.

Plea counsel further acknowledged that the audio tapes recorded by the confidential informant during the alleged drug transaction only recorded the voices of the confidential informant and Kelly Sloan and that Petitioner’s voice could not be heard on the tapes. App. 57, ll. 8-14.

Order of Dismissal

Judge Welmaker issued his Order of Dismissal on January 21, 2014 denying and dismissing Petitioner’s PCR application. App. 69-77. With respect to whether plea counsel misadvised Petitioner that he would only have to serve 65% of the sentence on the distribution of crack cocaine charge, Judge Welmaker ruled Petitioner “failed to meet his burden of proving plea counsel misadvised him about the time he would have to serve on his sentence” and “plea counsel did not err.” App. 75.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in finding that plea counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where Petitioner would have not pled guilty to the charge of distribution of crack cocaine, second offense, and the related proximity charge had he not been misadvised by plea counsel that he would only have had to serve 65% of that sentence when the second offense distribution charge actually requires Petitioner to serve at least 85% of the sentence.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “Where allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are made, the question becomes, ‘whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.’ ” Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686). As such, courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel’s representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687–88. “Under this prong, ‘[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.’ ” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel’s performance in such a manner that, but for counsel’s error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Id.*

The United States Supreme Court has held that “[g]uilty pleas are no more foolproof than full trials to the court or jury. . . . Accordingly, we take great precautions against unsound results.” Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 758 (1970). An “unsound result” occurs when a defendant does not knowingly, voluntarily, or intelligently plead guilty. See Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969). Therefore, in the context of a guilty plea, the deficiency prong inquiry turns on whether the plea was voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered. Anderson v. State, 342 S.C. 54, 57, 535 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2000); see also Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985) (“The longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is ‘whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.’ ” (quoting North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 31(1970))). “The second, or ‘prejudice,’ requirement ... focuses on whether counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process.” Hill, 474 U.S. 52 at 59. In other words,

A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of the plea by showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.

Holden v. State, 393 S.C. 565, 572, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011) (quoting Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009)); see also Hill, 474 U.S. at 59 (footnote omitted).

“The defendant’s undisputed testimony that he would not have pled guilty to the charges but for trial counsel’s advice is sufficient to prove that defendant would not have pled guilty.” Smith v. State, 369 S.C. 135, 138, 631 S.E.2d 260, 261 (2006). “In determining guilty plea issues, it is proper to consider the guilty plea transcript as well as evidence at the PCR hearing.” Suber v. State, 371 S.C. 554, 558, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886

(2007).

In this case, the PCR court erred in denying Petitioner's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel where Petitioner proved that (1) plea counsel gave him erroneous advice that he would only have to serve 65% of the sentence on the second offense distribution of crack cocaine charge; and (2) he was prejudiced by that deficient performance where he affirmatively testified that he would not have pled guilty to that charge had he been correctly advised that such offense required him to serve at least 85% of the sentence.

Deficient Performance and Prejudice

S.C. CODE ANN. § 24-13-150(A) mandates that any "inmate convicted of a 'no parole offense' as defined in Section 24-13-100 and sentenced to the custody of the Department of Corrections . . . is not eligible for early release, discharge, or community supervision as provided in Section 24-21-560, until the inmate has served at least **eighty-five percent** of the actual term of imprisonment imposed." (emphasis added). Section 24-13-100 defines a "no parole offense" as a "class A, B, or C felony . . ." Under § 16-1-20(A), a "Class A felony" is an offense where the term of imprisonment is not more than thirty years.

A second offense for the distribution of crack cocaine, of which Petitioner was convicted, carries a prison term for up to thirty years and therefore is a Class A felony. S.C. CODE ANN. § 44-53-375(B)(2). Accordingly, this offense is a no parole offense for which Petitioner must serve at least 85% of the actual term of imprisonment.

Plea counsel admitted at the evidentiary hearing that he advised Petitioner that the distribution of crack cocaine charge would not be an 85% sentence. App. 60, ll. 7-10. Plea

counsel's advice to Petition was legally incorrect, and therefore the PCR court's ruling that Petitioner "failed to meet his burden of proving plea counsel misadvised him about the time he would have to serve on his sentence" and that "plea counsel did not err" is not supported by the facts and law applicable to Petitioner's case. Plea counsel was deficient in failing to correctly advise Petitioner that the second offense distribution of crack cocaine charge required him to serve at least 85% of the sentence rather than 65%. See Jackson v. State, 342 S.C. 95, 535 S.E.2d 926 (2000) (finding trial counsel deficient in failing to advise petitioner that threatening a public official was a felony rather than a misdemeanor).

Petitioner testified that he would not have pled guilty to the second offense distribution of crack cocaine charge had he known it required service of at least 85% of the sentence. App. 49, ll. 14-25. The PCR court found Petitioner's testimony not credible; however, there was no evidence contradicting or conflicting with Petitioner's testimony. The only evidence in the record was Petitioner's testimony that had his plea counsel not misinformed him as to the amount of time he would have to serve, he would not have pled guilty to that offense. See Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 539, 402 S.E.2d 484 (1991) (holding petitioner had satisfied the prejudice prong when "the only evidence in the record on this point [was] petitioner's own testimony that had trial counsel not misinformed him that he would face a potential life sentence if he proceeded to trial, he would not have pled guilty").

In Petitioner's case, the only evidence was that Petitioner would have not pled guilty had he known the second offense distribution of crack cocaine charge required 85% of the sentence to be served. Petitioner is thus entitled to the grant of post-conviction relief with

respect to the second offense distribution of crack cocaine charge and the related proximity charge.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, Petitioner Rodney David Young respectfully requests this Court to grant his Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the ultimate relief of a new trial on his convictions for (1) distribution of cocaine base [crack cocaine] in violation of S.C. CODE ANN. § 44-53-375(B)(2); and (2) distribution of cocaine base within ½ mile of a park in violation of § 44-53-445.