STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**RECEIVED**

NOV 24 2014

The Honorable G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

---

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Appellate Case No. 2014-000296

---

Rodney D. Young, ..... Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, ..... Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

KAREN C. RATIGAN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar # 68331

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## QUESTION PRESENTED

1. Whether the PCR court erred in finding that plea counsel provided effective assistance of counsel where Petitioner would have not pled guilty to the charge of distribution of crack cocaine, second offense, and the related proximity charge had he not been misadvised by plea counsel that he would only have had to serve 65% of that sentence when the second offense distribution charge actually requires Petitioner to serve at least 85% of the sentence?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Pickens County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner at the September 2012 term of General Sessions for distribution of cocaine base (crack cocaine) (2011-GS-39-1794), distribution of marijuana (2011-GS-39-1798), distribution of crack cocaine within 1/2 mile of a park (2011-GS-39-1799), and distribution of marijuana within close proximity of a park (2011-GS-39-1800). (App.pp.78-97). John W. DeJong, Esquire represented Petitioner.

On January 29, 2013, Petitioner pled guilty.<sup>1</sup> The Honorable Edward W. Miller sentenced Petitioner to concurrent terms of 18 years suspended on service of 8 years and 3 years probation for distribution of cocaine base, second offense, 8 years for distribution of marijuana, second offense, 8 years for distribution of crack cocaine within 1/2 mile of a park, and 8 years for distribution of marijuana within close proximity of a park. (App.p.13). Petitioner did not appeal.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on May 13, 2013 (2013-CP-39-0649). (App.pp.15-25). A hearing was held at the Pickens County Courthouse on December 16, 2013. (App.pp.34-67). Petitioner was present and represented by R. Mills Ariail, Jr., Esquire. Karen C. Ratigan, Esquire of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office represented Respondent. The Honorable G. Edward Welmaker denied relief in an order filed January 22, 2014. (App.pp.69-77).

---

<sup>1</sup> The State not prossed indictments for possession of a pistol by a person convicted of a violent crime (2011-GS-39-1792), two counts of distribution of cocaine base (crack cocaine) (2011-GS-39-1793, -1796), two counts of distribution of cocaine base within 1/2 mile of a park (2011-GS-39-1795, -1797), and possession of contraband in county prison (2012-GS-39-2790).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for review of a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of plea counsel.**

Petitioner argues the PCR judge erred in denying his PCR application because plea counsel gave him erroneous advice that he would serve 65% of his sentence and he was prejudiced by that advice. This argument is without merit.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner argued plea counsel “told me that I’ll be doing sixty-five, and I’ll be eligible for parole and work release.” Petitioner argued he would not have pled guilty if he had known he would serve eighty-five percent of his sentence. (App.p.49). Plea counsel testified “I can’t honestly say that I told him it would be an eighty-five percent.” (App.p.60).

In denying Petitioner’s application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found “plea counsel did not err” and noted “an examination of [Petitioner]’s SCDC records indicates the charges are listed as non-violent.” (App.p.75).

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of

the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume counsel “rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066. The Applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove counsel’s performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Id. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S. Ct. at 2065). Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the Applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial.” Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citation omitted).

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving plea counsel’s performance was deficient. Normally, parole eligibility is a collateral consequence of sentencing of which a defendant need not be specifically advised before entering a guilty plea. Randall v. State, 356 S.C. 639, 641, 591 S.E.2d

608, 609 (2004). If a defendant is actively misinformed about parole eligibility he must prove he relied on this information in order to receive post-conviction relief. Griffin v. Martin, 278 S.C. 620, 300 S.E.2d 482 (1983). Petitioner has failed to demonstrate plea counsel actively misinformed him about parole eligibility. Rather, plea counsel testified he could not say that he advised Petitioner about parole eligibility. As parole eligibility is a collateral consequence of his guilty plea, plea counsel cannot be deficient for failing to advise Petitioner of such. See Randall, 356 S.C. at 641, 591 S.E.2d at 609.

Regardless, the PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving he was prejudiced as a result of plea counsel's representation. Even assuming arguendo that plea counsel did misadvise Petitioner about his parole eligibility, Petitioner failed to demonstrate that he relied upon this information in deciding to plead guilty. See Griffin, 278 S.E.2d at 622, 300 S.E.2d at 483. While Petitioner stated at the PCR hearing that he would not have pled guilty if he had been advised about parole eligibility, the PCR judge found Petitioner was not a credible witness. (App.p.73). See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 13, 430 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1993) (finding great deference is given to the PCR judge's findings on the credibility of witnesses); see also Menne v. Keowee Key Prop. Owners' Ass'n, Inc., 368 S.C. 557, 567, 629 S.E.2d 690, 696 (Ct. App. 2006) ("Because the appellate court lacks the opportunity for direct observation of the witnesses, it should accord great deference to trial court findings where matters of credibility are involved."). It is simply not believable that Petitioner only pled guilty because of alleged misadvice about parole eligibility. The State's case against Petitioner was strong, as the charges resulted from confidential informant cases where the drug

transactions were recorded. (App.pp.7-9; pp.62-63). Further, the State not crossed six indictments in exchange for his guilty pleas to these four charges. (App.p.10; p.65; p.70). Based upon the record in this case, it strains belief to conclude Petitioner pled guilty merely based upon alleged misadvice about parole eligibility. As such, this Court cannot give any credence to Petitioner's self-serving testimony from his PCR hearing.

Further, while Petitioner argues he is not parole eligible, this argument is not supported by the record. Petitioner's records from the South Carolina Department of Corrections indicate his non-violent sentence has a parole eligibility date approximately three years before his max-out date. (Supp.App.pp.1-2).

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by counsel's performance. As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) (“The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.”).

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issue discussed above.